STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS **DISTRICT II**

RECEIVED

JUL 2 7 2021

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Case No. 2021AP957-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JAMES J. SOCHA,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM AN AMENDED JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND TWO DECISIONS AND ORDERS DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE OZAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JOSEPH D. MCCORMACK, AND HONORABLE PAUL V. MALLOY PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

BY: JAMES J. SOCHA Defendant-Appellant Post Office Box 351 Waupun, Wisconsin 53963-0351

Case 2021AP000957 Brief of Appellant Filed 07-27-2021 Page 2 of 25

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED

The threshold question on appeal is whether the Postconviction Court was compelled to commute Mr. Socha's sentence in this case without further proceedings pursuant to sec. 973.13, Wis. Stats. upon a showing that seven of the ten alleged prior OWI convictions used to enhance his sentence were either vacated post-sentencing and/or did not actually exist at his 2005 sentencing?

The Postconviction Court Answered: No.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is not thought to be necessary in this case as briefing should fully develop and explain the issues. However, the primary issue on appeal is believed to be one of first impression in Wisconsin and publication should be given consideration on that basis.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This is an appeal from an Amended Judgment of Conviction entered on February 17, 2015, in the Circuit Court for Ozaukee County, the Hon. Joseph D. McCormack, presiding, wherein the Defendant-Appellant, James J. Socha (Mr. Socha), was convicted, *inter alia*, of operating while intoxicated (OWI) 5th or subsequent offense, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(a). And, also, from two Orders of the postconviction court, the Hon. Paul V. Malloy, presiding, which denied both Mr. Socha's motion for relief from an excessive sentence, and subsequent motion for reconsideration.

On February 23, 2005, Mr. Socha was cited for OWI in the city of Mequon in Ozaukee County, Wisconsin. As relevant here, the State's criminal complaint charged him with OWI and alleged nine prior OWI convictions contrary to sec. 346.63(1)(a) & 346.65(2)(e), 939.59(3)(h), 346.65(2)(g) Wis. Stats., a Class H felony. (3) The complaint was amended to include a tenth prior conviction, allegedly emanating from the Milwaukee County Circuit Court. (7; App.100) Five of the prior OWI convictions recorded in the State's 2nd amended criminal complaint allegedly stemmed from Ohio; two were alleged to occur in Illinois; and the remaining three allegedly took place in Wisconsin. (Id.)

On May 17, 2005, Mr. Socha pled no contest to one count OWI-fifth or subsequent offense, and was sentenced to a bifurcated term of imprisonment consisting of three years initial confinement, and three years extended supervision, consecutive to any other sentence. (118; App.104)

Following completion of the Department of Corrections Earned Release Program in 2008, Mr. Socha was released from prison early and his extended supervision time adjusted; none of his sentences in this case were complete as implied by the court in its decision on reconsideration. (172:2) Mr. Socha was reconfined for just short of all the remaining time available on his sentence later that year, due to new charges in Milwaukee County. (64) He is presently incarcerated on this case and others.

A postconviction motion was filed by Mr. Socha on November 30, 2020, seeking relief from an excessive sentence. (158; App.106) The motion exhibited evidence showing seven of the ten prior OWI convictions relied on by the State and trial court for enhancing his sentence, had either been vacated, and/or did not actually exist at the time his original sentenced was imposed in 2005. Mr. Socha's motion argued, that as a result of the sustaining evidence exposing the fact that seven of the prior OWI convictions utilized to increase his penalties in this case, did not actually exist; the imposed sentence was excessive by five years imprisonment and void, requiring immediate mandatory commutation pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 973.13.

The postconviction court issued a written Decision and Order denying Mr. Socha's postconviction excessive sentence motion, on February 15, 2021. (166; App.129) The court also denied his motion seeking reconsideration of the denied motion, on March 15, 2021. (172; App.151) This appeal from the amended judgment of conviction and the court's two orders denying postconviction relief follows.

ARGUMENT

MR. SOCHA'S ENHANCED SENTENCE IS EXCESSIVE AND ILLEGAL, AND THE POSTCONVICTION COURT ERRED WHEN NOT COMMUTING IT IN ACCORD WITH WIS, STAT. SEC, 973.13.

A. Introduction and Standard of Review.

Mr. Socha filed a motion in the circuit court seeking commutation of an excessive sentence, and submitted substantial documentary evidence proving that seven of the ten prior convictions used to enhance his OWI sentence, did not actually exist. The postconviction court found that the evidence available and relied on at the time of both his original sentencing and his re-confinement hearing, showed that Mr. Socha was not entitled to a resentencing, and denied his motion and a subsequent one for reconsideration.

The rulings were incorrect because the court did not recognize that when a defendant brings evidence, post-sentencing, demonstrating that his enhanced sentence is based in whole or in part on prior convictions which do not actually exist, the sentence must be commuted, it is not discretionary. The postconviction court's rulings deprived Mr. Socha of warranted relief from an excessive and illegal sentence. This Court should reverse the lower court orders without remand, and commute the sentence pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 973.13.

Whether the record is sufficient to sustain the penalty enhancer Mr. Socha received is a question of law that this Court reviews de novo. See State v. Spaeth, 206 Wis.2d 135, 148 (1996).

В. A total of six predicate OWI convictions alleged in the State's 2nd amended criminal complaint and used to enhance Mr. Socha's sentence, were vacated postconviction.

As pertinent here, following an arrest in 2005, the State filed a 2nd amended criminal complaint in the Ozaukee County Circuit Court charging Mr. Socha with felony OWI-fifth or subsequent offense, and averred that he had ten predicate OWI convictions the court could consider for sentencing purposes under Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2)(e), the escalating penalty enhancer statute for those convicted of OWI-fifth or subsequent offense. (7:1-4; App.100-03) Mr. Socha subsequently entered a plea of no contest to the charge, was found guilty, and a bifurcated sentence of six years imprisonment was imposed. (118:1-2; App.104-05)

The ten prior OWI convictions recorded in the State's 2nd amended criminal complaint are as follows:

- 2) 10/22/90 01/09/91 State of Ohio
- *3) 11/28/91 01/21/92 State of Ohio
- *4) 02/24/92 04/28/92 State of Ohio
- *5) 04/04/92 04/28/92 State of Ohio
- *6) 02/16/93 03/31/93 Milw. County [Village of Whitefish Bay]
- *7) 03/25/93 04/28/93 Milw. County [Village of River Hills]
- 8) 10/03/98 02/23/99 State of Illinois
- 9) 02/14/99 04/16/99 State of Illinois
- *10) 12/26/04 02/17/05 Milw. County [Circuit Court]

(7:2; App.101) (Asterisks' represent vacated and/or nonexistent OWI convictions).

In late 2020, Mr. Socha filed a postconviction motion in the circuit court requesting relief from an excessive sentence, via commutation under Wis. Stat. § 973.13. (158; App.106) Attached to the motion was evidence consisting of certified court Orders and other germane documents showing that six of the prior OWI convictions alleged in State's 2nd amended criminal complaint had been formally vacated by their respective courts, after sentencing in this case.

More specifically, Mr. Socha presented to the court as documentary evidence: two Certifications and court Orders vacating Wisconsin OWI conviction numbers, 6 and 7, above. (Id. at 9, 11, 13, 15, and 114, 116, 118. 120); two 'Conviction Status Reports' verifying that these same two OWI convictions were reported to the Wisconsin Department of Transportation (DOT) in error, circa 1993. (Id. at 10, 14, and 115, 119); one Certified court Order from the Mason Municipal Court in Mason, Ohio, vacating OWI conviction numbers, 1, 3, 4, and 5, supra. (Id. at 18-19, 123-24); and, finally, two DOT email inquires relating to OWI conviction numbers 1, 3-7, and 10 above, which confirm that the convictions were either removed and/or do not appear on Mr. Socha's driving record. (Id. at 16-17, 20, and 121-22, 125)

Although Mr. Socha's motion distinguished that he was seeking sentence commutation under Wis. Stat. § 973.13 due to the six vacated OWI convictions; and that he was also accusing the State of unlawfully recording an OWI conviction in its complaint from Milwaukee County Circuit Court which did not actually exist, the State chose to remain silent and not dispute or argue against the substantive merits of his postconviction motion. (160:1-3; App.126-28)

A written Decision and Order denying the postconviction motion was issued on February 15, 2021. (166; App.129) And on March 15, 2021, a defense motion asking for reconsideration of the court's decision was also denied. (172; App.151) The court viewed Mr. Socha's motion as

Case 2021AP000957 Brief of Appellant Filed 07-27-2021 Page 11 of 25

one alleging the existence of a new factor, and found that the evidence submitted did in fact show that six of the penalty enhancing OWI convictions were vacated, however, the court did not "believe" that vacatur of the six convictions, post-sentencing, were 'new factors' warranting relief via a 'resentencing.' (166:1, 5-6; App.129, 133-34)

The Decision and Order advanced multiple grounds for denying Mr. Socha relief. With respect to the four vacated Ohio convictions, the court accepted that they "were vacated in 2020 and dismissed." (Id. at 5, and 133) But held that because the same four vacated convictions were on Mr. Socha's record when sentenced in 2005, and at his re-confinement hearing in 2009, his "sentence was appropriate and based on accurate information." The court reasoned, "it is hard to say that the four Ohio convictions were highly relevant to his sentence in this case." (Id. at 6, and 134)

Judge Malloy also found, that the four Ohio OWI convictions were vacated for "unexplained reasons" some twenty five years after the fact, and Mr. Socha was burdened with showing the court exactly why. (Id. at 7, and 135) Furthermore, the court took the position that because Mr. Socha admitted the vacated OWI convictions, and they were of record at his 2005 sentencing and his 2009 re-confinement hearing, a 'new factor' had not been established. (Id. at 7-8, and 135-36) The court went on to apply Laches when stating, Mr. Socha should have brought these claims "much earlier when the records were fresh." (Id. at 8, and 136)

Vacatur removes the fact of conviction. See *State v. Lamar*, 2011 WI 50, ¶39-40 & n.10, 334 Wis.2d 536. (stating that when a judgment has been vacated, "the matter stands precisely as if there had been no judgment," and that vacating a judgment renders it "nullified and no longer in effect."). A court is not permitted to accept a conviction as vacated, and then challenge its validity and apply contingencies.

Other than providing the certified Order from the Ohio court as evidence of the four vacated OWI convictions, no Wisconsin or Federal law compelled Mr. Socha to produce the reasoning behind why the foreign court vacated its own convictions, even if 25 plus years after the fact. The Fauntleroy Doctrine mandates that a judgment of a state court shall have full faith and credit in "every other court in the United States." *Fauntleroy v. Lum*, 210 U.S. 230, 236 (1908). Wisconsin courts are mandated to recognize Ohio's vacating judgment as valid and binding.

Though not required to, Mr. Socha did submit a copy of the pleading his attorney filed in Ohio which explains in detail why the court there vacated its convictions. In spite of that, Judge Malloy's Decision and Order states: "the paucity of evidence" did not show why the convictions in Ohio were vacated. (Id. at 8, and 136) The court's statement here is simply not factual, as the pleading necessitating the Ohio vacations was literally at its hands (166:13-19); and, was acknowledged to be in the record. (Id. at 4, and 132)

The postconviction court also erred in conflating Mr. Socha's original sentencing in 2005 with his re-confinement hearing in 2009; and when invoking Laches, stating, Mr. Socha's arguments were not timely and records are stale. Neither of the court's aforementioned positions are allowed under Wis. Stat. § 973.13 review:

Claims for § 973.13, STATS., review, unlike a claim for infective assistance of counsel, for example, are reviewed by simply examining the record as it appeared before the sentencing court—the deteriorating effect of time on memory and evidence is simply not a concern in these cases. Because a prisoner has nothing to gain by delaying a claim for § 973.13 relief, we seriously doubt the need or any rule to discourage prisoners from "strategically waiting" years to ask for relief from a sentence imposed in excess of the maximum term authorized.

State v. Flowers, 221 Wis.2d 20, 29-30 (1998).

Flowers arguably set the standard for Wis. Stat. § 973.13 review, and though it is cited in both Mr. Socha's chief and reconsideration motions, the court did not acknowledge it. Nonetheless, only the 2005 sentencing record is germane here; and Laches cannot exist.

In regards to the two Wisconsin OWI convictions vacated in 2010, this Court and the State have previously recognized them as vacated in Appeal No. 2013AP281-CR, p.10-11, therefore, Law of the Case applies; and the postconviction court has acknowledged them as 'dismissed.' (Id. at 5-10, and 133-38) However, the court attaches conditions again, as with the four vacated Ohio convictions, and takes the position, without citing legal authority, that because Mr. Socha did not submit a current copy of his driving abstract or other evidence to "clear up any doubt" that the same vacated violations were not later criminally prosecuted, "Socha has not met his burden of proof to show the [municipal] citations are new factors. As a result, this Court will not find the dismissal of those citations, is a basis for a sentence modification." (Id. at 6-7, and 134-35)

The court's aforementioned stance is not supported by, and is contrary to Wisconsin law. Even if Mr. Socha's vacated civil violations were subsequently prosecuted and criminal convictions resulted, they would have occurred after sentencing in this case, and therefore, could not apply. It is the State, at all times, who carries the burden to substantiate the existence of prior OWI convictions, and it must be done before the original sentence is imposed. See State v. Wideman, 206 Wis.2d 91, 95 (1996) (relying on State v. McAllister, 107 Wis.2d 532, 539 (1982)). Moreover, the State does not get a second kick at the can, postconviction, to prove up prior OWI offenses. See State v. Koeppen, 195 Wis.2d 117, 126-27 (1995).

Case 2021AP000957 Brief of Appellant Filed 07-27-2021 Page 13 of 25

Judge Malloy's Decision and Order states, that he "carefully reviewed Socha's filings." (Id. at 4, and 132) And that the record shows that Mr. Socha had been "communicating" with the DOT. (Id. at 7, and 135) The Judge then stated that the "information [Socha] filed shows that" his attempts to have the vacated OWIs removed from his record were not acted on by the DOT. (172:2, App.152) Judge Malloy's statements here are in direct conflict with the established record.

Included with Mr. Socha's filings, which the court had "carefully reviewed," are two emails between DOT representatives and himself, which confirm that all six of the vacated OWI convictions were either removed from his drivers record, and/or do not appear. (158:16-17, 20; App.121-22, 125) One of the emails demonstrates that the DOT did in fact confirm that the two vacated civil OWI violations were never subsequently reported to them as convictions from another court, when replying: "The violations you listed below are not on your driving record." (Id. at 16, and 121) Accordingly, when the DOT responded that no OWI violations with the specified dates appear on Mr. Socha's record, it unambiguously confirms that subsequent criminal convictions for the same vacated civil violations do not exist.

Mr. Socha filed court Orders, Certifications, and other evidence, which affirm that the two civil OWI convictions were 'vacated' and reported to the DOT 'in error,' and he was at no time lawfully compelled to show that subsequent criminal convictions for the same vacated violations did not occur, although he did, as a courtesy to the court. The two civil Wisconsin OWI convictions have already been recognized as vacated by this Court and the State, and are required by law to be so by all courts, it is not discretionary

C. The Milwaukee County Circuit Court OWI offense alleged in the State's 2nd Amended Criminal Complaint did not actually exist when Mr. Socha was sentenced on this case in Ozaukee County, and was therefore not eligible to enhance his sentence.

In Wisconsin, the specifics of how and when to count prior OWI convictions intended to increase the penalty an OWI **offender faces** under Wis. Stat. §§ 346.65(2) and 343.307 has been well settled law since the early **1980's**, when the Supreme Court decided *State v. Banks*, 105 Wis.2d 32, 44-50 (1981). This Court relied on *Banks* in *State v. Skibinski*:

Banks emphasises that there must be a conviction before the graduated penalties can be used. A conviction under WIS. STAT. § 343.307 must meet the requirements of WIS. STAT. § 972.13(3). In order to be a valid judgment of conviction, a sentence must have been imposed. Therefore, under Banks, before a judgment of conviction can properly be used to justify an OWI penalty enhancer, the offender must have been sentenced.

Skibinski, 2001 WI App 109, ¶10 (2001) (emphasis original; citation omitted).

This Court further entrenched the soundness of its interpretation of Banks found in the Skibinski opinion, when a few years later it held in State v. Matke:

We expressly relied on the supreme court's analysis in Banks to conclude that a past OMVWI offense cannot be used to enhance the penalty for a later conviction unless there has been a conviction for the prior offense. We then explained that a conviction does not occur until a sentence is imposed.

Matke, 2005 WI App 4, ¶12 (2004) (relying on *Skibinski*, supra).

The crux of the confusion surrounding the factual basis of this issue stems directly from the State's 2nd amended criminal complaint, which was specifically amended to include a Milwaukee County OWI offense which did not actually exist, number 10 above. (7:2; App.101)

On May 17, 2005, defense counsel notified the trial court that Mr. Socha wished to enter a plea and be sentenced that day. Counsel further informed the court that he had filed for its consideration, a recent copy of the Presentence Investigation Report (PSI), intended for an OWI case Mr. Socha had pending in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, and that the case had not been sentenced. (195:5-6, App.154-55)

The State, upon hearing that the Milwaukee County OWI case had not been finalized, requested that the trial court only accept entry of Mr. Socha's plea on that date, and for sentencing to take place at a later time, so the Ozaukee County OWI case could be run consecutive to an anticipated sentence in Milwaukee County, to wit:

I had indicated that this would have to occur after the Milwaukee sentencing, I assumed the Milwaukee sentencing had already occurred. So I would just ask then if we take the pleas today that he set it over [sic] after the Milwaukee sentencing.

I had just anticipated that Milwaukee sentencing would go in first because the tenth would make more sense in terms of the time line order....

(Id. at 5-7, and 154-56)

The prosecutor's backpedaling above infers her awareness that a conviction for OWI in the Milwaukee County case did not actually exist, when asking the court to only accept Mr. Socha's pleas that day, and to sentence him at a later time. The State's attempt to delay sentencing in this case until after one anticipated in Milwaukee County, was inapposite to *Banks* interpretation of the legislature's goals in distinguishing the penalty structure of Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2), from that of the general repeater statute § 973.12. Id. at 45.

The *Banks* court analyzed the OWI penalty statute, and noted that the provisions of Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2) require criminal penalties be imposed if there is more than one OWI conviction at the time of sentencing, regardless of the order in which the convictions were entered. Id. at 47. The court further stated it would be contrary to the legislative intent of removing drunk-drivers from the highways, if convictions had to be entered in order of offense, and recognized that a contrary holding would "serve the interests of habitual drunken drivers to delay the trial of an offense through the filing of timely substitution of judge motions, and through controlled adjournments, etc. Such a result would clearly frustrate the obvious legislative intent." Id. at 49.

Banks reasoned that when an OWI offender had more than one case pending simultaneously, the legislature did not want the offender maneuvering via adjournments to gain advantage, and therefore found, that one court was not mandated to wait for an offense prior-in-time to be resolved in another court before it could proceed.

In the instant case, it was the State, not Mr. Socha, that tried to manipulate the outcome and delay proceedings when seeking to adjourn sentencing so the Milwaukee case would "go in first"—which was inverse to—and flew directly in the face of *Banks* and the legislature's objectives that OWI cases be timely resolved. The State essentially sought the benefit of an accepted plea, but with sentencing at a time of only its convenience, so that its tracks would be covered in terms of the nonexistent Milwaukee County OWI offense, which should not have been in it's 2nd amended complaint. Criminal complaints are not meant to be speculative, and most certainly cannot be predicting future OWI convictions, as attempted by the State here.

The trial court ultimately decided that no procedural bar prohibited it from proceeding to dispose of the case that day, ahead of a final disposition in the Milwaukee County case, and overruled the State's argument for plea and sentencing on separate dates, all of which is consistent with *Banks*, supra. The State was advised that it could notify the District Attorney's office and court in Milwaukee County, that the PSI was no longer accurate in terms of the amount of prior convictions. (195:5-8; App.154-57)

The motion Mr. Socha presented to the postconviction court cited *Matke*, and argued that because there was not a sentence and conviction in the Milwaukee County OWI case when he was sentenced on this case in 2005, it was at no time eligible for sentencing consideration in this

Case 2021AP000957 Brief of Appellant Filed 07-27-2021 Page 16 of 25

case. (158:2, 6-7; App.107, 111-12) *Banks* was also cited wherein that court opined that OWI convictions need not occur in sequential order of offense. (Id. at 2, and 112)

In the opening of Judge Malloy's Decision and Order, he acknowledged that the sentencing court was fully aware that a plea had been entered in the Milwaukee County OWI case and that a sentence had not been imposed prior to sentencing in this case, and that over objection of the State, the trial court proceeded to dispose of the case that day. (166:2-3; App.130-31) In the second to last paragraph of the postconviction court's decision, it addressed the validity of the pending Milwaukee County OWI offense in a seemingly short-shrift:

Socha argues that [the sentencing court] erred in sentencing him before his sentencing in his pending Milwaukee County case. I find that if there is any error on [the sentencing court's] part, Socha invited it.

Regardless of the reason why Socha wanted to proceed in that order, I believe in doing so he waived his right to argue that point now. I also find that the [sentencing court's] acquiescence in Socha's request for sentencing in Ozaukee county was harmless.

(Id. at 9, and 137)

There is no dispute that Mr. Socha did request to be sentenced in Ozaukee County knowing that he had a pending OWI case in Milwaukee County. However, at no juncture does the record reflect that he argued prejudice by being sentenced in Ozaukee County while another OWI case was pending in Milwaukee County.

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