Brief of Respondent

Filed 12-01-2021

Page 1 of 19

FILED 12-01-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

### COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT II

Case No. 2021AP957-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JAMES J. SOCHA,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM AN ORDER DENYING A MOTION FOR SENTENCE MODIFICATION AND AN ORDER DENYING A MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION, ENTERED IN THE OZAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE PAUL V. MALLOY, PRESIDING

#### BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

MICHAEL C. SANDERS Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1030550

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

### **ARGUMENT**

- I. This Court lacks jurisdiction over this appeal.
  - A. This Court lacks jurisdiction over the circuit court's order denying Socha's motion for sentence modification.

Socha filed notice of appeal of the circuit court's February 15, 2021 order denying his motion for sentence modification and its March 15, 2021 order denying his motion for reconsideration. (R. 224.) On July 23, 2021, this Court "ORDERED that this court lacks jurisdiction to review the February 15, 2021 order." (R-App. 103.) Socha did not seek review of this Court's order, and in his brief, he does not assert that this Court was somehow incorrect. He simply ignores that this court has already determined that it lacks jurisdiction over the circuit court's February 15, 2021 order denying his motion for sentence modification.

- B. This Court lacks jurisdiction over the circuit court's order denying Socha' motion for reconsideration.
  - 1. Socha has forfeited any argument that this Court has jurisdiction over the circuit court's order denying his motion for reconsideration.

In its July 23, 2021 order, this Court also questioned whether it has jurisdiction over the circuit court's March 15, 2021 order denying Socha's motion for reconsideration. This Court "ORDERED that the parties should address, as the first issue in their appellate briefs, whether this court has jurisdiction to review the March 15, 2021 reconsideration order." (R-App. 103.) In his brief, Socha does not address the jurisdiction issue. He simply ignores this Court's order. By not addressing the jurisdiction issue as ordered by this Court,

Socha has forfeited any argument that this Court has jurisdiction over the circuit court's March 15, 2021 order.

In Poteete v. Wales, 2020AP741, 2020 WL 6787586, (Wis. Ct. App. Nov. 19, 2020) (unpublished), this Court addressed a similar situation.4 In Poteete, after the circuit court granted judgment, the appellants filed a motion for post-judgment relief. Id. ¶ 1. The circuit court denied the motion. Id.  $\P$  2. The appellants filed notice of appeal after the deadline to appeal the initial judgment had passed, and the court "issued an order identifying the need for the parties to address appellate jurisdiction." Id. ¶ 2. This Court guestioned whether it had jurisdiction to hear an appeal from the postjudgment order, so it issued an order in which it "explained that the timing of the notice of appeal may deprive this court of jurisdiction to consider the appeal," and "directed the parties to make the threshold issue of jurisdiction the first topic in their appellate briefing." Id. "The [appellants] inexplicably failed to follow this order, but the [respondent] did follow it, submitting a facially valid argument that this court lacks jurisdiction." Id. This Court concluded "that it is appropriate to deem the [appellants] to have forfeited their argument that this court has jurisdiction to address their appeal from the March 2020 order." *Id.* ¶ 3.

This Court's reasoning in *Poteete* applies equally to this appeal. By simply ignoring this Court's order that the parties address whether the Court has jurisdiction over the circuit court's March 15, 2021 order, Socha has forfeited any argument that this Court has jurisdiction.

<sup>4</sup> The State cites *Poteete* only for its persuasive value. *See* Wis. Stat. 809.23(3). The opinion is appended to this brief at R-App. 104–14.

### 2. Socha's motion for reconsideration did not raise new issues.

"No right of appeal exists from an order denying a motion to reconsider which presents the same issues as those determined in the order or judgment sought to be reconsidered." Silverton Enters., Inc. v General Cas. Co., 143 Wis. 2d 661, 665, 422 N.W.2d 154 (Ct. App. 1988) (citing Marsh v. Milwaukee, 104 Wis. 2d 44, 46, 310 N.W.2d 615 (1981); Ver Hagen v. Gibbons, 55 Wis. 2d 21, 26, 197 N.W.2d 752 (1972)). A party that moves for reconsideration and presents the same issues decided in the original motion is required to appeal the order denying the original motion. Ver Hagen, 55 Wis. 2d at 26.

In his motion for sentence modification (new factor), Socha sought sentence modification on the ground that seven of the ten convictions used to enhance his sentence for OWI in this case and make it a fifth or subsequent offense are invalid. (R. 192.) He claimed that six of the convictions have been invalidated, and were "void ab initio," and that another could not properly have been used for sentence enhancement because he had not yet been sentenced in that case. (R. 192:2–5.) Socha claimed that these "new factors" entitled him to sentencing for a fourth offense rather than a fifth or subsequent offense. (R. 192:5.) After a hearing (R. 204), the circuit court rejected Socha's motion in a written decision and order (R. 205).

Socha then filed a "motion for reconsideration of court order denying defendant's motion for sentence modification (new factor)." (R. 209.) Socha asserted that when the court denied his motion for resentencing, the court failed to consider Wis. Stat. § 973.13, *State v. Flowers*, 221 Wis. 2d 20, 586 N.W.2d 175 (Ct. App. 1998), and *State v. Matke*, 2005 WI App 4, ¶ 12, 278 Wis. 2d 403, 692 N.W.2d 265, and improperly addressed laches and strategic error. (R. 209:2–8.) But those were not new issues—only arguments that the circuit court

Case 2021AP000957 Brief of Respondent Filed 12-01-2021 Page 13 of 19

erred in failing to grant his original motion for sentence modification (new factor). In seeking reconsideration, Socha "argue[d] hereupon that he did in-fact meet the two-prong New Factor test, that the imposed sentence was excessive by five years imprisonment, and that the Court erroneously exercised its discretion in denying the motion sub-judice:" (R. 209:1–2.)

In its decision denying Socha's motion for reconsideration, the circuit court recognized that Socha did not raise new issues in his motion for reconsideration: "What [Socha] does is rehash the same arguments and take umbrage at this Court's decision," denying his motion for sentence modification. (R. 212:2.) The circuit court was correct. Socha's motion for reconsideration did not raise new issues.

The issue Socha raised when seeking reconsideration was the same issue he raised in his original motion—those new factors warrant modification of his sentence to the maximum sentence for OWI as a fourth offense rather than for OWI as a fifth or subsequent offense. (R. 209:9–12.) Rephrasing or re-theorizing a claim does not make it a new claim. See State v. Witkowski, 163 Wis. 2d 985, 990, 473 N.W.2d 512 (Ct. App. 1991). Because Socha's motion for reconsideration did not raise new issues, and he did not timely file notice of appeal of the circuit court's order denying his motion for sentence modification, this Court lacks jurisdiction over this appeal. See Marsh, 104 Wis. 2d at 49 (holding that the court of appeal lacks jurisdiction over an appeal of an order denying a motion for reconsideration that does not raise new issues). This Court should therefore dismiss Socha's appeal.

# II. The circuit court properly denied Socha's claim that a new factor warrants sentence modification.

# A. A defendant must overcome a high hurdle to get sentence modification.

A circuit court may modify a defendant's sentence upon a showing of a new factor. Harbor, 333 Wis. 2d 53, ¶ 35. A new factor consists of facts "highly relevant to the imposition of sentence, but not known to the trial judge at the time of original sentencing, either because it was not then in existence or because, even though it was then in existence, it was unknowingly overlooked by all of the parties." Id. ¶ 40 (quoting  $Rosado\ v$ . State, 70 Wis. 2d 280, 288, 234 N.W.2d 69 (1975)).

A defendant seeking sentence modification "must demonstrate both the existence of a new factor and that the new factor justifies modification of the sentence." *Harbor*, 333 Wis. 2d 53, ¶ 38. A defendant who asserts that a new factor warrants sentence modification "has the burden to demonstrate by clear and convincing evidence the existence of a new factor." *Id.* ¶ 36 (citing *State v. Franklin*, 148 Wis. 2d 1, 8–9, 434 N.W.2d 609 (1989)).

# B. Socha has not shown a new factor that warrants resentencing.

When he pleaded no contest in this case, Socha admitted to having ten prior convictions. (R. 3:10–11.) He was sentenced for OWI as a fifth or subsequent offense. (R. 3:24.) In his motion for sentence modification (new factor), Socha argued that a new factor warrants sentence modification. (R. 192.) Specifically, Socha argued that the new factor is that seven of his ten convictions should not have been counted to enhance the sentence for his current OWI conviction, and he should have been sentenced for a fourth offense rather than a

fifth or subsequent offense. (R. 192:3–4.) The circuit court denied Socha's motion, concluding that he did not show a new factor that warrants sentence modification. (R. 205.)

On appeal, Socha does not argue that a new factor warrants sentence modification. He has abandoned his new factor claim entirely. In fact, he asserts that the circuit court "erred when it misconstrued Mr. Socha's motion as cognizable under new factor analysis." (Socha's Br. 18.) He does not explain how, exactly, the circuit court erred when it construed his motion for sentence modification (new factor) as a sentence for modification on the basis of a new factor.<sup>5</sup>

Since Socha no longer claims that a new factor warranting sentence modification, this Court should affirm the circuit court order denying his claim for sentence modification (new factor).

# III. Socha is not entitled to commutation of his sentence under Wis. Stat. § 973.13.

On appeal, Socha argues that the circuit court should have construed his motion for sentence modification (new factor) as a motion for commutation of his sentence under Wis. Stat. § 973.13. (Socha's Br. 19.) He claims that he is entitled under Wis. Stat. § 973.13 to have his sentence for OWI as a fifth or subsequent offense commuted to the maximum sentence for OWI as a fourth offense. (Socha's Br. 23–24.)

<sup>5</sup> Socha asserts that the circuit court should have construed his motion for sentence modification (new factor) as a motion for commutation of his sentence under Wis. Stat. § 973.13 because he is pro se. (Socha's Br. 19.) However, in his motion for sentence modification (new factor), Socha insisted that his motion not be construed as a motion for resentencing (R. 192:1 n.1), even though he is claiming that his sentence was invalid.

Section 973.13 provides that "In any case where the court imposes a maximum penalty in excess of that authorized by law, such excess shall be void and the sentence shall be valid only to the extent of the maximum term authorized by statute and shall stand commuted without further proceedings." Socha is not entitled to relief under Wis. Stat. § 973.13 because the sentencing court did not impose a sentence in excess of that authorized by law.

"Section 973.13, as it pertains to sentencing a repeat offender, applies only when the State fails to prove the prior conviction necessary to establish the habitual criminal status (by proof or by admission) or when the penalty given is longer than permitted by law for a repeater." *State v. Mikulance*, 2006 WI App 69, ¶ 18, 291 Wis. 2d 494, 713 N.W.2d 160 (citing *Flowers*, 221 Wis. 2d at 28–29; *State v. Spaeth*, 206 Wis. 2d 135, 155–56, 556 N.W.2d 728 (1996)).

Wisconsin Stat. § 973.13 simply does not apply in this case. First, the State did not fail to prove Socha's prior convictions. A defendant's admission to prior convictions is sufficient to prove them for purposes of sentence enhancement. *State v. Loayza*, 2021 WI 11, ¶ 38, 395 Wis. 2d 521, 954 N.W.2d 358. Here, at sentencing, the circuit court listed ten convictions, including all the convictions Socha now claims are invalid, and asked Socha "You agree you have all of those prior convictions?" (R. 3:10–11.) Socha answered "Yes, sir." (R. 3:11.)

Second, the circuit court did not impose a penalty longer than permitted by law. The maximum sentence for an OWI as a fifth or subsequent offense was six years of imprisonment. Wis. Stat. §§ 346.65(2)(am)5., 939.50(3)(h). After Socha admitted to ten prior offenses, the court sentenced him to six years of imprisonment, including three years of initial confinement and three years of extended supervision. (R. 3:24.) The sentence did not exceed the maximum sentence for a fifth or subsequent offense. Because Socha admitted to

Case 2021AP000957 Brief of Respondent Filed 12-01-2021 Page 17 of 19

ten prior convictions, and the court imposed a valid sentence for OWI as a fifth or subsequent offense, Wis. Stat. § 973.13 does not apply.

### **CONCLUSION**

This Court should dismiss this appeal because it lacks jurisdiction. Alternatively, it should affirm the circuit court's order denying Socha's motion for sentence modification (new factor).